S



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ESTUARDO ARDON, ON BEHALF OF HIMSELF AND OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED

Plaintiff and Respondent,

٧.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES

Defendant and Petitioner

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JAN 2 0 2015

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Of a Decision of the Second Appellate District of the Court of Appeal

Case No. B252476

Affirming a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles, Lead Case No. BC363959
Honorable Lee Smalley Demon, Judge Presiding

[Related to Case Nos. BC406437; BC404694; BC363735; and BC447863]

Michael G. Colantuono (SBN 143551)

*Holly O. Whatley (160259)

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does inadvertent disclosure of privileged documents by a clerk responding to a Public Records Act, Government Code sections 6250 et seq. ("PRA") request waive attorney-client privilege and work product protections, when the holders of the privileges (the City Council and the City's attorneys, respectively) were neither notified of the request nor had opportunity to review the documents before disclosure?
- 2. Does a municipal clerical employee have authority to waive the attorney-client privilege and the protection of the work product doctrine?
- 3. Is disqualification appropriate when counsel breaches ethical standards requiring an attorney who receives inadvertently disclosed, privileged documents to refrain from examining the materials any more than is necessary to ascertain privilege and to immediately notify the sender?

REVIEW IS APPROPRIATE TO RESOLVE WHETHER THE PUBLIC RECORDS ACT WEAKENS THE ATTORNEY. CLIENT PRIVILEGE AND WORK PRODUCT PROTECTIONS OR WHETHER IT CAN BE HARMONIZED WITH THOSE LEGAL PRINCIPLES

In a published opinion ("the Opinion"), the Court of Appeal held the Public Records Act ("PRA") limits the force of the attorney-client privilege and the work-product doctrine such that inadvertent disclosure of privileged materials by a clerical employee responding to a PRA request waives those protections, even though inadvertent disclosure by an attorney responding to an identical discovery request does not. Review is appropriate under California Rules of Court, rule 8.500, subdivision (b)(1) "to settle ... important question[s] of law."

The Court of Appeal quoted the trial court's erroneous explanation that "'[u]nlike litigation discovery, where inadvertent disclosure is expressly protected from waiver by statute (See Evid. Code § 912; Code Civ. Proc., § 2031.285), any privileged document disclosed pursuant to the [PRA] is waived as to the world'" (Opinion at p. 4 [emphasis added].) However, Evidence Code section 912 provides no exception for inadvertent disclosure, there is no statute governing waiver of the work-product doctrine upon disclosure to third parties at all — let alone statutory protection for inadvertent disclosure. Moreover, Code of Civil Procedure section 2031.285 is limited to the production of electronically stored

information and does not depend upon whether disclosure was inadvertent or deliberate.

Yet despite this absent statutory basis, it is well established that inadvertent disclosure of documents subject to the attorney-client privilege under the Evidence Code or the work-product doctrine under the Code of Civil Procedure, and whether produced as an electronic file or in hard copy, does not result in waiver. Rather such inadvertent disclosure triggers an ethical obligation on counsel receiving such materials to refrain from examining them more than necessary to ascertain privilege. (*State Compensation Ins. Fund v. WPS, Inc.* (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 644, 656–657 ["*State Fund*"].) *State Fund* relies on ABA Formal Ethics Opinion No. 92-368 and has been cited in no fewer than 71 cases and thus represents a well-established rule of California, as well as American, law.

This rule is a common law rule and does not arise from statute. Nevertheless, this Court cited *State Fund* with approval in *Rico v. Mitsubishi Motors Corporation* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 807 ("*Rico*"), an opinion cited in no fewer than 41 others. Nor does *Rico* limit the rule to inadvertent disclosure in response to a discovery context. Indeed, *Rico* involved counsel obtaining opposing counsel's notes by unexplained means:

Somehow, Johnson acquired Yukevich's notes. Johnson maintained that they were accidentally given to him by the court reporter. Yukevich insisted that they were

taken from his file while only Johnson and plaintiffs' team were in the conference room.

. . . .

The [trial] court ultimately concluded that the defense had failed to establish that Johnson had taken the notes from Yukevich's file. It thus ruled that Johnson came into the document's possession through inadvertence.

(Id. at p. 812)

Review is also necessary to consider whether clerical employees have the authority to inadvertently waive the attorneyclient privilege, held by the City Council, or work-product protections held by counsel. The Opinion's unprecedented conclusion that a public agency's privileges may be lost by a bureaucratic error is of paramount concern to all public agencies in our state from the State itself to the 7,000 units of local government that serve Californians, most with far fewer resources than Los Angeles. If the rule stands, governments must risk their privileges or treat requests for public records as defensively and with the same application of expensive legal services as they are required to do as to discovery requests. This benefits neither the transparency objective of the Public Records Act nor the public fisc. Such a rule will also discourage the creation of privileged materials in the first instance, impairing counsel's ability to defend public agencies and their ability to communicate with their clients and their clients'

abilities to know and to adhere to the requirements of law. As Justice Mosk wrote for a unanimous Court:

A city council needs freedom to confer with its lawyers confidentially in order to obtain adequate advice, just as does a private citizen who seeks legal counsel, even though the scope of confidential meetings is limited by this state's public meeting requirements.

(Roberts v. City of Palmdale (1993) 5 Cal. 4th 363, 380 [neither PRA nor open-meeting statute abrogate attorney-client privilege as applied to counsel's memo regarding land use matter to be heard at open meeting] ("Roberts").)

If the Opinion's profound change in the law governing public agency's privileges is to be effected, this Court should say it. Review is appropriate here.

A. THE OPINION UNDERMINES THE ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE AND THE WORK PRODUCT DOCTRINE

The Opinion's distinction of inadvertent disclosure in discovery from that as to PRA requests is analytically unsound and undermines the attorney-client privilege and the work-product doctrine. First, as discussed above, the Opinion's claim of statutory support for the distinction in Evidence Code section 912 and Code of Civil Procedure section 2031.285 is error.

Second, the Opinion's observation that "[i]n the construction

of a statute ... the office of the judge is simply to ascertain and declare what is in terms or in substance contained therein, not to insert what has been omitted or omit what has been inserted" (Opinion at p. 6 [internal quotations and citations omitted]) ignores that courts must also harmonize statutes rather than to allow one to defeat the other. (*Id.* at p. 373 [harmonizing PRA, open-meeting law, and Evidence Code].) The *State Fund* rule is itself a judicial gloss on the statutory privileges arising from courts' power to govern the bar. It does not allow the distinction the Opinion establishes. Rather it applies regardless of how counsel come into possession of privileged materials of their adversary. (*State Fund, supra,* 70 Cal.App.4th at p. 656.)

Finally, the policies that support the attorney-client and work product privileges do not apply uniquely in discovery, but under any circumstances where disclosure is compelled, as it was here under the PRA. By carving the PRA out of protection provided under *State Fund* — and approved by this Court in *Rico* — the Opinion dilutes privileges that are fundamental to our system of jurisprudence.

B. THE OPINION ALLOWS CLERICAL STAFF TO WAIVE PRIVILEGES HELD BY OTHERS

The Opinion gives short shrift to the argument low-level staff cannot waive the attorney-client privilege held by the City Council or the work product protection held by counsel. The point is worthy of more serious consideration.

The attorney-client privilege of a private corporation belongs to its management and is normally exercised by its officers and directors. (*Melendrez v. Superior Court of the State of California* (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 1343, 1353–54.) The "officers and directors" of a city is its City Council, and it is undisputed the City Council waived no privilege here. Similarly, the work product protection is held by attorneys, and it can be neither exercised nor waived by the City Council or even the Mayor, let alone clerical employees. (2 Witkin, Cal. Evid. (5th ed. 2012) Witnesses, § 146 ["Attorney is Holder of Privilege"].)

The Opinion's concern a city might seek to selectively disclose privileged materials via clerical staff must yield to the principle that only those who hold a privilege can waive it — especially here, where it cannot be argued the City had any intent to do so. Should such misconduct arise, courts will have means to police it via the existing doctrine that privileges may be waived by those with authority to do so — impliedly or expressly. (2 Witkin, Cal. Evid. (5th ed. 2012) Witnesses, § 155 ["Implied and Express Waiver"].)

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

This case, before this Court once previously (*Ardon v. City of Los Angeles* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 241 [Government Claims Act permits class action claims against local governments], challenges the City's pre-March 2008 telephone users tax ("TUT"). Ardon claims a 2006

Internal Revenue Service's ("IRS") decision to exclude from the Federal Excise Tax ("FET") charges for long-distance service based only on time, as opposed to time and distance, required a similar reduction of the City's TUT. (1 CT 22–23 [Corrected First Amended Class Action Complaint, ¶¶ 6–9.)

Ardon served its first document production request seeking, among other things, City documents relating to the FET, IRS Notices reflecting the IRS' changed interpretation of the FET, and communications regarding application of the TUT to long distance services charged on the basis of time alone. (1 CT 152 [Declaration of Holly O. Whatley ("Whatley Decl.") at ¶ 2]; 1 CT 161.) Ardon served a second request seeking documents concerning the TUT authored by the League of California Cities — of which the City is a member. (1 CT 153 [Whatley Decl. at ¶ 3]; 1 CT 168.)

Concurrently with the second request, Ardon served a deposition subpoena for business records on the League seeking records related to:

- the FET;
- amendment of any telephone tax to eliminate reference to the FET; IRS notices of its changed interpretation of the FET;
- applicability of any tax to long-distance service charged only on the basis of time; and,
- League communications on behalf of or at the direction

of the City as to any of these.

(1 CT 153 [Whatley Decl. at ¶ 4]; 1 CT 174–175.)

The trial court granted League and City motions to quash agreeing the materials Ardon sought were protected by the attorney-client privilege and the work-product doctrine. (1 CT 153 [Whatley Decl. at ¶ 5]; 1 CT 177.)

The City produced documents in response to both requests for production, withholding 27 described in a privilege log ("Privilege Log"). (1 CT 154 [Whatley Decl. at ¶ 7]; 1 CT 195-201.)

Over five years later, Ardon's counsel disclosed to the City for the first time by April 3, 2013 letter, that she had obtained three of those privileged documents assertedly in response to a PRA request under Government Code, section 6254. (1 CT 154 [Whatley Decl., ¶ 8]; 1 CT 203.) These are:

September 18, 2006 Letter from Chief Assistant City Attorney, David Michaelson, to City Administrative Officer, William Fujioka ("Michaelson Letter"). This analyzes the impact of IRS Notice 2006-50 on the TUT, the core issue in this case, and options for the City, including arguments to defend against claims identical to Ardon's. The privilege log identified this as "Letter prepared by legal counsel" at numbers 3 and 21 and designated it subject to attorney-client, attorney-work product and deliberative-process

protection. (1 CT 154–155 [Whatley Decl., ¶¶ 8, 9]; 1 CT 206.) The letter bears a legend: "ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL COMMUNICATION." (1 CT 154–155 [Whatley Decl., ¶ 9].)

- California City Attorneys ("League Memo"). This memorandum, enclosed with the Michaelson Letter, analyzes the possible impact on local taxes of the IRS' changed interpretation of the FET. The Privilege Log identified this as "Research memo sent to legal counsel" at number 4 and designated it as within the attorney-client, work-product and deliberative process privileges. (1 CT 154–155 [Whatley Decl., ¶¶ 8, 10]; 1 CT 196.)
- June 1, 2006 Memorandum from City Administrative Officer, William Fujioka to City Attorney, Rockard J. Delgadillo ("Fujioka Memo"). This bears the subject line, "IRS Notice Regarding Federal Excise Tax." The Privilege Log identified it at number 2 and designated it as protected by the attorney-client, work-product and deliberative-process privileges. (1 CT 154–155 [Whatley Decl., ¶¶ 8, 11].) Plaintiff admits having an undated copy of this document

(identifiable by its file number, WTF:JSS:16060007C). (1 CT 155 [Whatley Decl., ¶ 11]; 1 CT 211.)

The City's counsel repeatedly demanded return of these privileged documents. (1 CT 155–156 [Whatley Decl., ¶¶ 12, 14]; 1 CT 213–215; 1 CT 222-223.) Ardon's counsel refused. (1 CT 155–156 [Whatley Decl., ¶¶ 11, 13]; 1 CT 211; 1 CT 218–220.)

The City Council never waived the attorney-client privilege as to these documents. (1 CT 150–151 [Declaration of Noreen Vincent ("Vincent Decl."), ¶¶ 4, 5].) Nor did the Chief Administrator. (1 CT 147–148 [Declaration of Miguel Santana ["Santana Decl."], ¶¶ 3–5].) Nor did he authorize anyone else to do so. (*Id.*) Finally, the City Attorney's office never waived the work-product protection of the Michaelson Letter or the other two documents. (1 CT 151 [Vincent Decl., ¶ 6].)

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The City filed its Motion to Compel Return of Privileged Documents and to Disqualify Counsel of Record. (1 CT 121.).

On hearing the motion, the trial court requested supplemental briefing on the legislative history of the PRA and Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 2-100. (Reporter's Transcript, July 1, 2013 hearing at p. 17.) At the second hearing on this motion, the trial court adopted its tentative ruling denying the motion. (Reporter's Transcript, October 25, 2013 hearing at p. 14; 2 CT 474–484.)

The City appealed and the Second District affirmed in a published opinion.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. PUBLIC RECORDS ACT WAIVER DOES NOT APPLY

A. Inadvertent Disclosure in Response to a PRA Request Does Not Constitute Waiver.

Two PRA provisions are in issue here. Government Code, section 6254, subdivision (k) states:

Except as provided in Sections 6254.7 and 6254.13, this chapter does not require the disclosure of any of the following records:

. . .

(k) Records, the disclosure of which is exempted or prohibited pursuant to federal or state law, including, but not limited to, provisions of the Evidence Code relating to privilege.

Thus, the PRA allows public agencies to withhold from responses to requests for access to public records material subject to any statutory privilege.

Government Code section 6254.5 states, in relevant part:

Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, whenever a state or local agency discloses a public record which is otherwise exempt from this chapter, to any member of the public, this disclosure shall constitute a waiver of the exemptions specified in Sections 6254, 6254.7, or other similar provisions of law.

Legislative history indicates that "waiver" under Government Code section 6254.5 was intended to prevent selective disclosure of records — which by its very nature must be intentional. Other than the Opinion, no published authority has ever held inadvertent disclosure of materials subject to the attorney-client privilege or work product rule results in waiver — much less that waiver in litigation in which the public agency has won discovery battles to maintain privilege. Moreover, the Opinion conflicts with *State Fund*, *Rico* and *Clark v. Superior Court (VeriSign)* (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 37 [affirming disqualification of counsel provided privileged records of defendant employer by plaintiff employee].

I. Section 6254.5 was intended to prevent selective disclosure, not to punish inadvertence

The PRA governs the right to inspect public records. Section 6253 provides that public records are generally open for inspection. Section 6254 sets forth exemptions to this general requirement, including that for records protected by statutory privileged stated in its subdivision (k) quoted above.

Subdivison (k)'s exemption includes documents subject to the attorney-client privilege under Evidence Code section 954, as well as those subject to the work-product protection of Code of Civil Procedure section 2018.030.

Section 6254.5's waiver rule — which the City concedes applies to intentional release of attorney-client privileged materials and work product — recognizes that all members of the public should be afforded equal access to public records and prohibits selective disclosure.

Were there any doubt as to that intent, legislative history resolves it. When the statute was added to the Public Records Act in 1981, its sponsor, Senator Barry Keene, issued four press releases trumpeting its prohibition of selective disclosure. (2 CT 401 [Declaration of Holly O. Whatley in Support of City's Supplemental Brief ("Supplemental Whatley Decl."), ¶¶ 2, 3]; 2 CT 402–403 [March 24, 1981 press release]; 2 CT 404–405 [April 28, 1981 press release]; 2 CT 401 [Supplemental Whatley Decl., ¶¶ 4, 5]; 2 CT 406–408 [July 6, 1981 press release]; 2 CT 409–411 [September 9, 1981 press release].)

Selective disclosure was also discussed in three legislative staff reports. (2 CT 401 [Supplemental Whatley Decl., \P 6]; 2 CT 412–414 [August 11, 1981]; 2 CT 401 [Supplemental Whatley Decl., \P 7]; 2 CT 415–417 [April 28, 1981]; 2 CT 401 [Supplemental Whatley Decl., \P 8]; 2 CT 418 [August 11, 1981].)

Moreover, the Legislature enacted Government Code section 6254.5 by Stats.1981, c. 968, p. 3680, § 3, and is presumed to have been aware of *Black Panther Party v. Kehoe* (1974) 42 Cal.App.3d 645 ("*Black Panther Party*"). Plaintiffs there demanded to inspect complaints of abusive practices by collection agencies, and the

Bureau of Collection and Investigative Services acknowledged it routinely disclosed those complaints to collection agencies for response. (*Id.* at p. 655.) Although the court concluded the complaints fell within an exemption under Government Code section 6254 (*Id.* at p. 654), it rejected the Bureau's contention it could share these complaints with collection agencies but deny access to others. Government Code section 6254.5 codified this holding, and government officials cannot rely upon the exemptions of section 6254 to justify selective disclosure.

However, the Opinion's observation that the relief sought by the City would allow selective disclosure "to Ms. Rickert but not to others" (Opinion at p. 6) ignores that selective disclosure requires intention. The Opinion rests upon an absurd premise that a public agency might wish to selectively disclose privileged materials to its adversaries in high-stakes litigation, while denying access to the public at large.

2. The Opinion would require attorneys to staff PRA response desks.

The City receives hundreds of PRA requests annually; State agencies receive thousands. The Opinion leaves them with unacceptable options: forego statutory privileges — including in class action disputes like that at bar involving perhaps tens of millions of dollars— or assign attorneys to respond to PRA requests, undoubtedly making disclosure slower and much, much more costly. Nothing in *Black Panther Party* or the legislative history of

Government Code section 6254.5 evidences intent to impose that choice, and the Opinion's failure to harmonize the provisions of the PRA internally and with the Evidence Code and Code of Civil Procedure ought not evade this Court's review.

Moreover, the trial court's view that "Ms. Rickert used the Public Records Act for exactly the purpose it was intended" (2 CT 482) invites litigants to ignore standards of professional courtesy—and the trial court order barring discovery—by failing to inform counsel for the City of their requests and instead press for an advantage under the PRA. Neither professionalism nor respect for the courts allows such a sneak attack.

B. Clerical Employees Cannot Waive Privilege

The City Council and City Attorney hold the privileges in issue here, not clerks who handle PRA requests. Only they can waive privilege and they did not. (1 CT 150–151 [Vincent Decl., $\P\P$ 4—6].)

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