# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ESTUARDO ARDON, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, *Plaintiff and Respondent*, SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 05 2015

VS.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES Defendant and Petitioner.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Six Case No. B252476

Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles Hon. Lee Smalley Edmon, Judge Trial Court Case No. BC363959

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

WOLF HALDENSTEIN ADLER FREEMAN & HERZ LLP

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

In that case, Masonite argued, as the City does here, that the possibility of waiver by way of "[i]nadvertent or mistaken disclosure" would constitute "an excessively punitive and 'rigid rule" that would lead to "absurd results." (Id. at 455.) The Court of Appeal disagreed, noting that Masonite was "afforded the opportunity to properly claim a trade secret, and by doing so prevent[] disclosure of confidential information." (Id.) Masonite's failure to properly designate the document as a trade secret, however, transformed the privileged document into an unprivileged public record because "[v]oluntary disclosure of information as a public record, even if mistaken, constitutes a valid waiver of trade secret protection." (Id.)

It is of course true that in *Masonite*, the party seeking to protect the documents was not the party to disclose them. That distinction is of little import, however, because in this case the party seeking to invoke the privilege is *also* the public agency subject to the Public Records Act. If anything, the case for waiver is only stronger in this case. Masonite's error was to inadvertently disclose the document to a regulator without the proper designation. To the extent that the City's disclosure can be construed as "inadvertent," its inadvertent error was to disclose the documents to a member of the public with no legal restrictions on the manner in which the documents could be used. That disclosure, even if inadvertent, permanently destroyed any semblance of confidentiality by converting those documents into public records subject to disclosure to any member of the public at any time for any reason. Based on the plain language of the statute, any attorney-client or work product privilege that may have once existed was waived at the time of disclosure under the Public Records Act.

# B. Even Assuming an Implicit "Inadvertent Disclosure" Exception to the Waiver Provisions in Section 6254.5, the Instant Disclosure Was not "Inadvertent"

Even if the Court were to essentially read a non-statutory policy exception to section 6254.5's waiver provision for inadvertent disclosure of privileged information, the instant disclosure was not "inadvertent" and constituted a waiver of the attorney-client privilege under the terms of Evidence Code section 912. To this point, the Court

of Appeal's discussion in State Compensation Ins. Fund v. WPS, Inc. (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 644, relied upon heavily by the City in support of disqualification, is highly instructive. That case suggests that the rule of inadvertent disclosure as a defense to waiver is limited to inadvertent disclosure by attorneys. (See Id. at 654 ["we hold that 'waiver' does not include accidental, inadvertent disclosure of privileged information by the attorney"] [emphasis added].) The Court of Appeal observed that, pursuant to Evidence Code section 912, it only is the client, as holder of the privilege, who may waive it. (Id. at 652.) Waiver by an attorney, therefore, must be authorized by the client. (Id.) That is, a holder of the privilege may waive it "either by disclosing a significant part of the communication or by manifesting through words or conduct consent that the communication may be disclosed by another." (Id. [emphasis added]; see also Evid. Code § 912(a).) Inadvertent disclosure by an attorney does not waive the privilege because it does not manifest the client's consent to waive the privilege.

But as the Court of Appeal acknowledged, wavier by an attorney (which requires consent) is distinct from waiver by the actual holder of the privilege. (See *Id*. ["In this case, it is clear that State Fund did not itself disclose to appellants the claim summaries, but rather its counsel effected the inadvertent disclosure].") Under the plain language of section 912, consent is irrelevant to a disclosure made by the actual holder of the privilege. The privilege-holder's consent is only relevant when the disclosure is made by another. Here, the documents were disclosed by the City itself (through the City Administrator), not by the City's attorney. The plain language of section 912(a) and the City's preferred case *State Compensation Ins. Fund* clearly provide that the issue of inadvertent disclosure is irrelevant in this case. There is no question of whether the City consented to an attorney disclose of privileged documents. The City Administrator made the disclosure, not the City Attorney.

For this reason, the City's request for disqualification is unavailing. Even assuming that the City's citation to *State Compensation Ins. Fund v. WPS, Inc.* 70 Cal.App.4th 644 would mandate disqualification if, as in that case, the documents had been inadvertently produced by the City's counsel in the context of discovery, the instant case is not analogous. *State Compensation Ins. Fund* involved an attorney's receipt of documents in discovery that were subject to an attorney-client privilege that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In its supplemental reply, the City suggests that that only the City Council had the authority of the client (the sovereign City of Los Angeles) to waive a privilege. (See Supp. Reply, p. 2.) Not so. It is beyond question that the City Administrator is a public officer. (See L.A. City Charter, Vol. I, Art. II §§ 200, 201 [defining the "chief administrative officer of each department and office" as a "City Officer" and designating the Office of Administrative and Research Services as a City office].) As a public officer, the City Administrator acts with the authority of the sovereign as to all duties entrusted to him by the City Council, including the disclosure of documents under the Public Records Act. (See L.A. Admin. Code § 12.10 [delegating authority to implement Public Records Act to heads of City departments].) "The most general characteristic of a public officer, which distinguishes him from a mere employee, is that a public duty is delegated and entrusted to him, as agent, the performance of which is an exercise of a part of the governmental functions of the particular political unit for which he, as agent, is acting." (Coulter v. Pool (1921) 187 Cal. 181, 187.)

had not been waived. (Id. at 654.) Here by contrast, disclosure under the Public Records Act constituted an act of waiver, and the documents were no longer subject to privilege at the time. And in any event, the City's disclosure of the documents also constituted a waiver of the privilege under the terms of Evidence Code section 912(a).

The disqualification rule in *State Compensation Ins. Fund* concerned an attorney's ethical duties upon receipt of documents that "clearly appear to be confidential and privileged and where it is reasonably apparent that the materials were provided or made available through inadvertence...." (*Id.* at 656.) Here, the documents could not have "clearly appeared" to be privileged because the manner of their production (directly from the City through a Public Records Act request) unequivocally indicated that any privilege was waived. The ethical duties discussed in *State Compensation Ins. Fund* had no bearing on Ms. Rickert's receipt of documents, and there is no basis for disqualification.

### C. Ms. Rickert Did not Violate Rule of Professional Conduct 2-100

The City conceded on page one of its initial reply brief that Ms. Ricker's Public Records Act request was proper. However, after the Court posed a question at the July 1, 2013 hearing regarding the applicability of Rule of Professional Conduct 2-100 (prohibiting contact with a represented party), the City reversed course and argued that Ms. Ricker's Public Records Act request constituted a violation of Rule 2-100 and independently demands disqualification.

#### Rule of Professional Conduct 2-100 provides:

"While representing a client, a member shall not communicate directly or indirectly about the subject of the representation with a party the member knows to be represented by another lawyer in the matter, unless the member has the consent of the other lawyer."

(Cal. Rules Prof. Conduct, Rule 2-100(a).) However, the rule also exempts from its application, *inter alia*, any "[c]ommunications with a public officer, board, committee, or body." (Cal. Rules Prof. Conduct, Rule 2-100(c)(1).) The Court agrees with the City's original conclusion that Ms. Ricker's request was proper.

The City asserts that the exception for communications with public officers serves only to "preserve the inviolate right of all citizens to petition their government as protected by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution." (City Supp. Reply, p. 4 [citing State Bar Formal Op. No. 1984-82]; see also *United States v. Sierra Pacific* 

Industries (E.D. Cal. 2011) 759 F.Supp.2d 1215, 1216-18.)<sup>2</sup> True enough, but the Public Records Act is expressly intended to protect just such rights:

"In enacting [the Public Records Act], the Legislature, mindful of the right of individuals to privacy, finds and declares that access to information concerning the conduct of the people's business is a fundamental and necessary right of every person in this state."

(Gov. Code § 6250 [emphasis added].)

Here, Ms. Rickert used the Public Records Act for exactly the purpose the Legislature intended. Nothing in Ms. Rickert's request targeted privileged information.<sup>3</sup> It merely requested generic categories of public records relating to the adoption of a citywide tax ordinance that Ms. Rickert believed to be unlawful. It is difficult to conceive of a request more squarely within the Legislature's intent in enacting the Public Records Act.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The City's reliance on *United States v. Sierra Pacific Industries* to assert that Ms. Ricker's conduct violated Rule 2-100 is unpersuasive. To begin with, that decision of a federal district court interpreting a California Rule of Professional conduct is not binding on this Court. To the extent it demands a different result than the formal opinions of the State Bar, the State Bar's interpretation of the Rule (as the administrative agency responsible for regulating the conduct of attorneys) is entitled to "considerable weight" and the Court should not depart from that interpretation "unless it is clearly erroneous or unauthorized." (Sara M. v. Superior Court (2005) 36 Cal.4th 998, 1012.) But Sierra Pacific does not suggest a different result here in any event. In Sierra Pacific an attorney suing the U.S. Forest Service attended a public tour in the Plumas National Forest. (United States v. Sierra Pacific Industries, supra 759 F.Supp.2d at 1215-16.) During the course of the tour, the attorney surreptitiously questioned several Forest Service employees. (Id.) A magistrate judge found, and the District Court affirmed, that the attorney was not exercising his right to petition the government by secretly questioning Forest Service employees and that such low-level employees were not "public officers" within the meaning of Rule 2-100. (Id. at 1217-18.) Here, Ms. Rickert was exercising a statutorily guaranteed right to petition the government, and she did so through the same formal channels that are required of any citizen when exercising that right. She did not secretly contact any City employee to ask a special favor or make any misrepresentations on her request. Moreover, the District Court's determination that contact with low-level employees who were not "public officers" constituted a violation of Rule 2-100 is in tension with State Bar Formal Op. 1977-43 which provides that an attorney may contact either a high-level "public official" or a low-level "government employee." "If the staff members are public officials, the attorney is free to contact them because rule 7-103 of the Rules of Professional Conduct [the predecessor to Rule 2-100] does not apply. If they are not public officials, contact would still be authorized as they are not parties to the litigation." (State Bar Formal Op., No. 1977-43.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The request did not specifically ask for communications from the California League of Cities, for example, which Judge Mohr had already found were privileged. It did not request communications between City staff and the City Attorney. Nor did it seek categories of documents inherently likely to skew toward such documents. Rather, it broadly asked for documents relating to the IRS' 2006 interpretation of the FET, the City's preparation of the UUT, and documents from City's Task Force (not the City Attorney) statewide coordination efforts.

As the City concedes, Rule 2-100(c) expressly permits an attorney to contact a represented public official about the subject matter of the official's representation in order to preserve the attorney's right to petition the government. Interpreting a nearly identically worded exception to the predecessor rule to Rule 2-100, the State Bar agreed. The State Bar considered a scenario where:

"An attorney representing a party bringing an action against a city... approaches the city manager or other member of the administrative staff and privately discusses the subject matter of the action between the city and his client without permission from the city attorney."

(State Bar Formal Op. No. 1977-43.) The State Bar concluded that it makes no difference whether the attorney contacts the official publicly or privately, nor does it matter what the subject matter of the communication is (even if, as the opinion discussed, the attorney is directly attempting to influence the city's substantive response to the litigation). The State Bar determined that under any scenario "an attorney representing a client who is suing the city may communicate with any public official or the city council about a subject of the litigation without the consent of the city attorney." (State Bar Formal Op. No. 1977-43.)

Attorney or not, Ms. Rickert had a "fundamental and necessary" right to petition her government under the Public Records Act. This right is expressly recognized in the exception to rule 2-100 for communications with public officials, which permits an attorney to communicate directly with a public official about the subject matter of the litigation without the consent of the City Attorney. Ms. Rickert's exercise of her statutory and constitutional rights to petition her government regarding a matter of public importance was entirely within the scope of permitted professional conduct, and there is no basis to disqualify her or her or any members of her law firm under Rule of Professional Conduct 2-100.

#### III. Conclusion

Because the three documents at issue were produced by the City in response to a request under the Public Records Act, any privilege that may have previously attached was waived by operation of law when the City produced them under the Public Records Act. The fact that the documents may have been provided by inadvertence or mistake is of no consequence because "[v]oluntary disclosure of information as a public record, even if mistaken, constitutes a valid waiver" of a privilege. (Masonite Corp. v. County of Mendocino Air Quality Management Dist., supra, 42 Cal.App.4th at 455.) Moreover, the fact that the document was produced by the City itself, rather than through counsel, constituted an independent waiver under Evidence Code section 912, notwithstanding Government Code section 6254.5.

Of course, this is not to say that some or all of the documents in question were not privileged at one time. The City may have been well within its rights under Government Code section 6254(k) to withhold them from disclosure. But the City did not withhold them, it disclosed them to a member of the public under a statute that provided no recourse for their return and no consequence for their immediate and universal distribution. In doing so, the City waived any claim to privilege. Because privilege was waived, Plaintiff's counsel had no ethical duty to return a public record or to refrain from using it, and there is no basis to disqualify Ms. Rickert or any other attorney associated with Plaintiff. Likewise, Ms. Rickert's Public Records Act request was well within her "fundamental and necessary rights" as a citizen and her ethical duties as a lawyer under the Rules of Professional Conduct. Accordingly, the City's motion to compel return of the three purportedly privileged documents and to disqualify Plaintiff's counsel is DENIED.

## COUNTY OF VENTURA

# GUIDE TO THE

# CALIFORNIA PUBLIC RECORDS ACT



2008

Office of the County Counsel

## B. Exemptions to Disclosure Are Specifically Limited by the CPRA

The CPRA states a general policy in favor of disclosure, so that support for refusal to disclose information must be found among specified exceptions to that general policy. (Johnson v. Winter (1982) 127 Cal. App. 3d 435.) Please find more on exemptions from disclosure in section IX, below.

### C. Segregating Exempt Materials